NO. 43203-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MARK MARKUSSEN,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE
SUPERIOR COURT OF CLARK COUNTY

Before the Honorable Robert L. Harris, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Peter B. Tiller, WSBA No. 20835
Of Attorneys for Appellant

The Tiller Law Firm
Corner of Rock and Pine
P. O. Box 58
Centralia, WA 98531
(360) 736-9301

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred by failing to admit as a business record a Computer Aided Dispatch [CAD] report or record made by a 911 operator simultaneously with a 911 call she received from the victim.

2. The trial court erred in refusing to admit a CAD report documenting the victim's call to 911 as an excited utterance.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A hearsay statement may nonetheless be admissible if the statement falls within a hearsay exception. A business record is a valid hearsay exception. Prior to the admission of a business record, the proponent of the evidence must establish through the custodian of records or other qualified witness the identity and mode of preparation of the record and that it was made in the regular course of business at or near the time of the event. Did the court err in denying a Computer Aided Dispatch record of details of a 911 call from the victim where the record was made by a 911 operator who received the call simultaneously with the call? Assignment of Error No. 1.

2. Did the trial court err in refusing to admit the CAD record of the 911 call as an excited utterance where the statement was made within minutes of the startling event, and pertained to the event? Assignment of Error No. 2.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural history and trial testimony:

On the morning of August 17, 2010, an intruder entered the house of Terrie Cox in Vancouver, Clark County, Washington. 3B Report of Proceedings [RP] at 451.¹ Her husband had left for work and she was alone in the house at the time of the intrusion. 2RP at 456. Ms. Cox had opened the garage door in order to go outside to trim some trees in front of her house, and then went back inside her home. 3B RP at 453. A man entered through the open garage door and went inside the house. 3B RP at 453, 454. Ms. Cox saw the man standing in the hallway wearing a black stocking cap, a blue "puffy" jacket, jeans and a t-shirt. 3B RP at 454. She stated that the man produced what she described as a gun. 3B RP at 454. The man told her to turn around and face away from him. She complied and he grabbed her hair and put the gun to her neck. 3B RP at 457. He took her to an office in the house and told her to sit down. He then backed up and walked down the

¹The record of proceedings consists of six volumes:
1RP—December 3, 2010, February 10, April 7, May 19, June 16, June 21, July 19, July 28, July 29, August 4, September 16, September 22, November 29, and December 1, 2011, CrR 3.5 hearing;
2RP—December 2, December 5, 2011, jury trial;
3A RP—December 6, 2011, jury trial; 3B RP—December 6, 2011, jury trial;
4RP—December 7, 2011, jury trial; and
5RP -December 8, 2011, jury trial; January 12, February 29, and March 9, 2012, sentencing.

hallway, and she ran out of the house. 3B RP at 458. The man intercepted her outside with what she described as a gun, grabbed her and took her back inside the house into the office. 3B RP at 458, 459. In the office the man attacked her and tried to pin her down. 3B RP at 459. She fought back but he was able to pin her face down in a chokehold and then sat on her back and put the gun on the floor. 3B RP at 460. He then put his hand in his pocket and pulled out a rubber glove. 3B RP at 460. As he was putting on the glove she bit his right hand and "started shredding the glove," and then reached up and pulled off the man's stocking cap. 3B RP at 461. She said that the man had black hair and that he had a strong odor of cigarette smoke. 3B RP at 463. As he was choking her, he told her that someone wanted her dead and that he was not leaving until he had killed her. 3B RP at 462. She told him that she was hurt and that she needed to get up and promised that she would not turn around and look at him. 3B RP at 464. She got up and then ran out of the house and ran to a neighbor's house. 3B RP at 464.

During the attack the intruder was injured and left blood on Ms. Cox's left leg, hand, and arm. 3B RP at 471. Police took swabs of the blood for DNA² analysis.

²DNA denotes the molecule Deoxyribonucleic acid. <http://www.biology-online.org/dictionary/Dna>

Ms. Cox thought the attacker was a building contractor who had performed work in her house in 2005. 3B RP at 465. She believed that she recognized his voice and recognized him by the cigarette odor. 3B RP at 466. She subsequently obtained two checks written to Mark Markussen in 2005 for work he did in a closet in the house. 3B RP at 476, 477. At trial, Ms. Cox identified Mr. Markussen as the man who entered her house on August 17, 2010. 3B RP at 506.

On September 14, 2010 Ms. Cox, a real estate agent, went to a restaurant in Vancouver called Tommy O's to meet a client, who was also one of her friends. 3B RP at 480, 481. In the bar of the restaurant, she saw a man talking on cell phone who she believed was the man who had attacked her the previous month. 3B RP at 481, 4RP at 412. Ms. Cox's friend obtained the man's name and cell phone number. 3A RP at 390, 3B RP at 481. The man gave his name as "Mark." Ms. Cox called 911 and also alerted the restaurant manager that she believed the attacker was in the restaurant. 3B RP at 483. A restaurant patron obtained the man's license plate number and other information regarding his vehicle when he left the restaurant, and she provided the information to police. 3B RP at 483, 484, 3A RP at 413.

Detective Darren McShea of the Vancouver Police Department

testified that the license plate number was from a vehicle registered to Sidney Cables, who lived at an address in Washougal. 3B RP at 747. He testified that Mr. Markussen was associated with that address. 3B RP at 747.

After obtaining a search warrant, police got a DNA sample from Mr. Markussen on September 17, 2010. 3B RP at 553, 568. A DNA report was prepared by Erica Graham of the Washington State Patrol Crime Laboratory on November 17, 2010, indicating that the DNA obtained from Ms. Cox fit the profile of the DNA sample obtained from Mr. Markussen on September 17. Mr. Markussen was arrested on November 22, 2010. 4RP at 656, 657, 753.

At trial, Ms. Graham testified that the probability of the DNA samples obtained from Ms. Cox's palm and leg of matching the DNA profile obtained from Mr. Markussen is one in 970 quadrillion. 4RP at 658.

Mr. Markussen was evaluated at Western State Hospital and determined to be competent to stand trial. 1RP at 15; CP 19.

Jury trial in the matter started December 5, 2010, the Honorable Richard Melnick presiding.

The State charged Mr. Markussen with kidnapping in the first degree, contrary to RCW 9A.40.020(1)(b), (c); burglary in the first degree, contrary

to RCW 9A.52.020(1)(a), (b); and assault in the second degree. Clerk's Papers [CP] 1. The State filed an Amended Information on November 28, 2011, alleging that Counts 2 and 3 were committed while armed with a deadly weapon and adding an additional count of assault in the second degree and witness tampering. CP 41-42.3 The State also alleged a deadly weapon enhancement in Counts 1 through 4, pursuant to RCW 9.94A.825 and 9.94A.533(4). CP 41-42. The State filed a Second Amended Information on January 12, 2012. CP 282. Count 5 was subsequently severed from Counts 1 through 4. 2RP at 230.

Immediately following the incident the morning of August 17, 2010, Ms. Cox's neighbor, Bruce Bown, called 911 after Ms. Cox told him what had happened. 2RP at 291. After Mr. Brown spoke with the 911 operator, he gave the phone to Ms. Cox, who also spoke with the 911 operator. 2RP at 296, 5RP at 836. The 911 call was not recorded due to a malfunction and the person who took the call, Lori Brenner, simultaneously made a Computer Aided Dispatch [CAD] record of the call to be transmitted to the responding police officers. 5RP at 832-33. Defense counsel moved to prevent the State from amending Counts 1 through 4 to add deadly weapon enhancements,

³Mr. Markussen entered a guilty plea to the severed count of witness tampering on January 12, 2012. 5RP at 955.

pursuant to *State v. Knapstad*,⁴ arguing that a caller to 911 on August 17, 20010 stated that an intruder was using a fake gun. CP 52, 53. The court, which addressed the motion under CrR 8.3, denied the motion and permitted the State to file its second amended information. 2RP at 225.

The defense sought to introduce the CAD report under the business record exception to ER 803 and as an excited utterance. The court denied the motion. 5RP at 828-30. In an offer of proof, Ms. Brenner stated that in the course of her employment as a county 911 system operator, she received a call the morning of August 17, 2010 and spoke with Terrie Cox. 5RP at 832, 835. She stated that in addition to taking each call, 911 operators create a "call for police dispatch" in the CAD system contemporaneously with each incoming call. 5RP at 833. The information is then relayed to responding police officers and appears on the computers in their cars. 5RP at 834. Ms. Brenner stated that the CAD entry she created referred to a "fake plastic gun" and that the information was provided by Ms. Cox. 5RP at 835.

The defense rested without calling any witnesses. 5RP at 869.

Neither exceptions nor objections were taken to the jury instructions were taken by counsel for the defense. 5RP at 815.

2. Verdicts, enhancements, and sentence:

The jury found Mr. Markussen guilty as charged in Counts 1 through

⁴¹ 07 Wn.2d 346, 729 P.2d 48 (1986).

4. C P 270, 271, 272, 273. The jury also found a deadly weapon enhancement for each count. CP 274, 275, 276, 277. The defense argued that the merger doctrine applies to kidnapping, burglary and assault convictions. 5RP at 981. The court found that kidnapping merges with second degree assault as charged in Count 3. 5RP at 982, 983. The court imposed a standard range sentence of 174 months, including enhancements totaling 72 months. CP 304.

Timely notice of appeal was filed March 8, 2012. CP 320. This appeal follows.

D. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY RULING THE CAD RECORD WAS INADMISSIBLE AS A BUSINESS RECORD

a. The court's denial of the CAD report by the 911 operator regarding a "fake plastic gun."

Out-of-court statements offered at trial to prove the truth of the matter asserted are inadmissible unless they fall within a valid hearsay exception. A statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at trial or at a hearing, offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted is hearsay and is inadmissible absent a rule or statute which authorizes its admission. ER 801(a) - (c), 802. Whether a statement is offered to prove the matter asserted

depends upon the purpose for which it is offered. Karl Tegland, 5B Washington Practice, Evidence, § 801.8 at 288 (4 ed. 1999). It also turns on a question of relevancy: if the statement is only relevant if it is true, it is hearsay. *Id.*

Here, the trial court erred by ruling that Ms. Brenner's CAD record notes regarding the 911 call was inadmissible as a business record. As a consequence, defense counsel was precluded from arguing that Mr. Markussen could not have committed the offense of first degree burglary and second degree assault as alleged in Count 3---and that the enhancements did not apply---because the assailant was not armed with a deadly weapon but instead had a fake plastic gun.

b. The court's denial of the 911 CAD record was erroneous.

Evidence Rule 801(c) defines hearsay as "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." ER 802 states that hearsay "is not admissible except as provided by these rules, by other court rules, or by statute." The Uniform Business Records as Evidence Act (the business records exception to the hearsay rule) provides such an exception. The

Uniform Business Records Act is codified and contained in RCW 5.45.020.

ER 803(a)(6). It provides:

A record of an act, condition or event, shall in so far as relevant, be competent evidence if the custodian or other qualified witness testifies to its identity and the mode of its preparation, and if it was made in the regular course of business, at or near the time of the act, condition or event, and if, in the opinion of the court, the sources of information, method and time of preparation were such as to justify its admission.

RCW 5.45.020. See also *State v. Kreck*, 86 Wn.2d 112, 118-20, 542 P.2d 782 (1975).

In *State v. Bradley*, 17 Wn.App. 916, 567 P.2d 650 (1977), this Court upheld the admissibility of police department CAD printouts as business records under this statute. The trial court admitted a computer printout as a record that was kept of all phone calls requesting police assistance. *Bradley*, 17 Wn.App. at 918. Bradley assigned error to the admission of the computer printout on the ground that it contains double hearsay. *Id.* This Court upheld the trial court's ruling and noted:

The printout is a record of an event made in the regular course of business that satisfies the requirements for admission under the Uniform Business Records as Evidence Act, RCW 5.45.020. [Citations omitted] A document that qualifies as a business record cannot be denied admission on the ground that the person who entered the information in the record does not testify in court. *Jarstad v. Tacoma Outdoor Recreation, Inc.*, 10 Wash.App. 551, 519 P.2d 278 (1974). Thus the statements of the person who received the phone call come within an exception to the hearsay rule for business records.

Bradley, 17 Wn.App. at 918.

c. The Appellant provided a sufficient foundation for the admission of the CAD report as a business record.

The admissibility of hearsay as a business record hinges upon the opinion of the trial court that "the sources of information, method and time of preparation were such as to justify its admission." RCW 5.45.020; Tegland, 5C Wash.Prac. § 803.42, at 23. Here, 911 operator Lori Brenner stated in the offer of proof how the report was prepared and that it is prepared contemporaneously with each 911 call to provide information to responding officers. She demonstrated that she had control over the accuracy of the information and affirmed that the information regarding a "fake gun" was accurately entered in the report. Ms. Brenner's knowledge of the CAD system and her affirmation that the information was accurately received and entered in the report leads to the inescapable conclusion that she is a qualified witness to lay the foundation necessary to admit the report as business records.

Pursuant to the holding of *Bradley*, the trial court erred in denying the admission of the CAD report as a business record.

d. The error was not harmless.

The court's error in denying the operator's CAD record regarding a "fake plastic gun" was not harmless as it denied the defense's ability to argue that Mr. Markussen could not have committed first degree burglary and second degree assault as alleged in Count 3, and that the State did not prove the deadly weapon enhancements on the four counts because the perpetrator did not use a deadly weapon but instead had a fake plastic gun. Where the court makes an erroneous evidentiary ruling, the error is subject to "the rule that error is not prejudicial unless, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred." *State v. Christopher*, 114 Wn.App. 858, 863, 60 P.3d 677, review denied, 149 Wn.2d 1034 (2003), quoting *State v. Tharp*, 26 Wn.App. 184, 612 P.2d 11 (1980), aff'd, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599 (1981).

The error in precluding the admission of the CAD record was not harmless as the outcome of the trial---particularly regarding the deadly weapon enhancements---would have been different had the evidence been admitted.

**2 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THE
CAD REPORT OF THE 911 CALL WAS
INADMISSIBLE AS AN EXCITED
UTTERANCE.**

The hearsay rules prohibit admission of out-of-court statements to prove the truth of the matter asserted, except as provided by evidence rules, court rules, or statute. ER 801(c); ER 802. Although hearsay, certain out-of-court statements are admissible as exceptions to the rule. ER 802. An excited utterance is one such exception. ER 803(a)(2). An excited utterance is a "statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition." ER 803(a)(2). Excited utterances are sufficiently reliable to qualify as a hearsay exception because they are "made while the declarant was still under the influence of the event to the extent that the statement could not be the result of fabrication, intervening actions, or the exercise of choice or judgment." *State v. Strauss*, 119 Wn.2d 401, 416, 832 P.2d 78 (1992) (citation omitted). The stressful circumstance is believed to temporarily overcome the ability to reflect and fabricate. *State v. Dixon*, 37 Wn. App. 867, 872, 684 P.2d 725 (1984).

An excited utterance must satisfy three requirements: (1) a startling event or condition must have occurred; (2) the statement was made while the declarant was still under the stress of the startling event or condition; and (3) the statement must relate to the startling event or condition. *State v. Davis*,

141 Wn.2d 798, 843, 10 P.3d 977 (2000); *State v. Hardy*, 133 Wn.2d 701, 714, 946 P.2d 1175 (1997).

The statement should be made contemporaneously with or immediately following the startling event. The longer the time between the event and the statement, the "greater the need for proof the declarant did not engage in reflective thought prior to making the statement." *State v. Davis*, 141 Wn.2d at 844. If the evidence suggests the person had time to collect his thoughts and fabricate, the statement does not constitute an excited utterance. *Dixon*, 37 Wn. App. at 874. The trial court's decision is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Woods*, 143 Wn.2d 561, 595, 23 P.3d 1046, cert. denied, 534 U.S. 964 (2001).

Here the issue is whether Ms Cox's statement to the 911 operator that the assailant had a "fake gun," as reflected in the CAD report discussed *supra*, should have been admitted as an excited utterance.

The court erred in denying admission of Ms. Cox's statement; the statement qualified as an excited utterance. The record of the 911 call satisfies the three-part test noted above. The neighbor Mr. Brown called 911 almost immediately after the incident, and Ms. Cox then spoke with the operator after Mr. Brown left to look for the perpetrator. 2RP at 291.

Witnesses described Ms. Cox as shaking and being extremely upset following the incident. 2RP at 290. Last, the 911 call and Ms. Cox's statement regarding the gun to the operator was about the startling event.

The trial court abused its discretion in refusing to admit Ms. Cox's statement in the CAD report as an excited utterance.

F. CONCLUSION

Based on the above, Mr. Markussen respectfully requests this court to reverse and dismiss his convictions and deadly weapon enhancements.