NO. 43203-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

MARK ALLEN MARKUSSEN, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.10-1-01901-4

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

ANNE M. CRUSER, WSBA #27944 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

B.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
C.	ARGUMENT		
	I.	THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DECLINING TO ADMIT THE CAD LOG INTO EVIDENCE	
	II.	THE TRIAL COURT WAS NOT ASKED TO RULE ON WHETHER THE CAD LOG WAS ADMISSIBLE AS AN EXCITED UTTERANCE. EVEN SO, THE STATEMENTS IN THE CAD LOG WERE NOT ADMISSIBLE UNDER THE EXCITED UTTERANCE EXCEPTION BECAUSE NO WITNESS ATTRIBUTED THE STATEMENTS TO MS.	
D.	CON	NCLUSION12	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
Hume v. American Disposal Co., 124 Wn.2d 656, 666, 880 P.2d 988
(1994)
State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971) 8
State v. Bradley, 17 Wn.App. 916, 567 P.2d 650 (1977)
State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 810, 975 P.2d 967 (1999) cert. denied, 528
U.S. 922, 120 S. Ct. 285, 145 L. Ed. 2d 239 (1999)
State v. Hines, 87 Wn.App. 98, 100, 941 P.2d 9 (1997)
State v. Ross, 42 Wn.App. 806, 808-09, 714 P.2d 703 (1986)
Statutes

RCW 5.45.020 8

A. RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DECLINING TO ADMIT THE CAD LOG INTO EVIDENCE.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT WAS NOT ASKED TO RULE ON WHETHER THE CAD LOG WAS ADMISSIBLE AS AN EXCITED UTTERANCE. EVEN SO, THE STATEMENTS IN THE CAD LOG WERE NOT ADMISSIBLE UNDER THE EXCITED UTTERANCE EXCEPTION BECAUSE NO WITNESS ATTRIBUTED THE STATEMENTS TO MS. COX.

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Terrie Cox is married and has lived in Clark County for thirty years. RP 450. She works as a realtor and is a small business owner. RP 450. On August 17, 2010 Terrie woke up as usual and let her dog outside to go to the bathroom. RP 451. She often walks her dog with her neighbors, Bruce and Barbara Brown, who also have a dog. RP 452. On this morning, however, Barbara offered to walk both dogs. RP 452. Terri's garage door was open and she decided to clip some hydrangeas. RP 453. After clipping a few flowers Terri went back into her house and as she was washing her hands, she heard the security chime on her door. RP 453. She assumed it was Barbara coming back with the dog. RP 453. She turned and saw a man standing in her hallway. RP 453. She was so shocked and surprised that at first she thought it must be a joke. RP 453. She knew there was construction going on down the street and thought maybe he

was in the wrong house. RP 454. He was wearing a stocking cap and a puffy jacket on that hot August morning. RP 454. All of a sudden the man raised a gun at her. RP 454.

The man asked her if anyone else was in the house and she said "yes," her husband was in the house. RP 455. She began screaming "call the cops!" RP 455. Her husband was actually at work, but she thought he might believe the lie and leave. RP 456. He ordinarily left for work around five in the morning. RP 456. He ordered her to turn around and when she did he came up behind her and put one hand on the back of her hair and used the other to put the gun against her neck. RP 457. He forced her into her home office and pushed her against her desk. RP 457. He backed up to look down the hall and as he did that, Terrie bolted for the door. RP 458. Terrie made it out her front door and headed through her gate. RP 458. Unfortunately the man caught her at the garage and shoved the gun in her face and forced her back into the house. RP 458. The man took her back to her office and what Terrie described as a "wrestling match" ensued. RP 459. Terrie did "all the things by the book." such as kick him in the groin and elbow him. RP 459-60. But the man began to win the fight and eventually pinned her down on the floor and placed her in a choke hold. RP 460. The choke hold caused her pain and she felt as though she couldn't breathe. Id. He then took a rubber glove out of his pocket and put

it on. Id. At that point Terrie panicked and bit the man's hand, shredding his glove. RP 461. Terrie said "he didn't like that" and reached into his pocket for another glove. Id. She then reached up and pulled off his knit cap and "he didn't like that." Id. The man loosened his grip and she began talking to him, asking if he was going to kill her. RP 462. He told her "somebody wants you dead and I'm not leaving until I kill you." Id.

As he spoke, she realized she recognized his voice. RP 462. She could also smell a strong odor of cigarettes. RP 461-63. The man claimed that if he didn't kill her, someone would kill his kids. RP 464. She talked him into getting off her by promising she wouldn't look at him. Id. As soon as she got up she bolted for the door and got away. RP 464. Terrie saw the man's gun and said it looked black and kind of square. Id. When asked if it looked like the investigating detective's gun she said yes, "it looked like that." RP 464. She ran to Bruce and Barbara's house and told them there was a man at her house with a gun. RP 465. Bruce and Barbara called 911. RP 465. When the police arrived Terrie noticed that she had blood on her hand. RP 467. The officers took a swab of the blood for DNA. RP 467.

Terrie was sure that she recognized the man's voice and recalled his voice in combination with his smell and his physical build. RP 465.

She recalled that she had hired a contractor five years ago and asked him

not to smoke in her house, and she thought that was the man but could not recall his name. RP 465-66. The reason she recalled this particular contractor was because he had done a poor job and she fired him. RP 474. She began looking in her basement for copies of checks she had written over the years and knew she was looking for two checks, one for \$450 and one for \$850. RP 474. She found the checks she was looking for and the name was Mark Markussen, a handyman. RP 477. She relayed that information to the detectives two weeks after the assault. RP 477-78. On September 14, 2010 Terrie had an appointment to meet a client at a restaurant named Tommy O's. RP 480. Her neighbors Bruce and Barbara were also there. Id. As she began making her way toward her client at the end of the bar, she began feeling panic. RP 480-81. She began smelling that same strong smell and her heart began "beating out" of her chest. RP 481. She looked over and saw a man about "the right size" sitting at the bar talking on the phone. RP 481. She went over to her friend and told her she had been attacked and she believed that was the man who did it. Id. She asked her friend to make conversation with the man and get his name while she left the bar. Id. The man gave her friend a card and the card had the name Mark on it with a cell phone number. Id. She called 911 but the officers were taking too long to get there so she went back inside and asked the manager to get his license plate number when he left. RP 482.

She then went back to her office to prepare a letter to Detective McShea, telling him what happened and begging him to get a sample for DNA testing from Mark Markussen. RP 484-85.

Three days later Detective McShea did obtain a DNA sample from Markussen. RP 553. Terrie was right all along: The blood left on her hand after the attack came from Mark Markussen. RP 657-60. Terrie also identified Mr. Markussen as the man who attacked her. RP 506-07. Mr. Markussen was convicted of kidnapping in the first degree, burglary in the first degree and two counts of assault in the second degree. CP 270-73. The jury found that he committed each offense while armed with a deadly weapon. CP 274-77. This timely appeal followed.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DECLINING TO ADMIT THE CAD LOG INTO EVIDENCE.

The trial court did not err in declining to admit the computer aided dispatch (CAD) log. A CAD log is a log containing notes from a call for service to law enforcement. RP 833-34. Both a dispatcher and an officer (who has a CAD screen on his mobile data terminal (MDT)) can make notes in a CAD log. A CAD log is not the equivalent of a 911 call, which is to say it doesn't contain direct statements from a reporting party (RP). Rather, it contains a summarization by the dispatcher or officer about the

information they are receiving from the reporting party (who may or may not be the victim). In this case, the CAD log contained information to the effect that Ms. Cox reported that she had been threatened with a "fake plastic gun." RP 835. Defense counsel sought to have the CAD log admitted as a business record, believing that if it met the definition of a business record then the contents of the CAD log could be relied upon by the jury for their truth. 436-41, RP 829-30.

During an offer of proof, Lori Brenner, the dispatcher who took the call, reviewed the CAD log and testified she remembered getting the call. RP 837. However, she had no recollection of Ms. Cox describing a "fake plastic gun." RP 837. She could only testify that she put that information into the CAD log, not that Ms. Cox actually said it. RP 839. Ms. Brenner testified that she spoke to Bruce Brown on the call that day as well. RP 836. Bruce Brown, for his part, testified that he never heard Ms. Cox say that the gun was a fake gun. RP 308. Defense counsel argued that the CAD log should be admitted as a business record (he did not address the double hearsay aspect of it) and that in the alternative, it should be admitted to impeach Ms. Cox as a prior inconsistent statement (that no one could testify she made). The court indicated that it did not meet the standard for admissibility as a business record because it did not bear indicia of reliability, and because just because something is made by

someone else in the normal course of his or her business does not make every document he or she creates a business record:

For example, if I send you a letter, Mr. Foister, and you keep that letter, it's a business record now. You write a letter and say, hey, I received this from Judge Melnick and it says the following. That's my normal habit. I create it in the course of my regular business, I keep it. That doesn't make it admissible. That's not what the business record exception was made for. Otherwise, we would just do this all by hearsay.

RP 829-30. The court analogized the CAD log to a police report, noting that police reports are not admissible despite clearly meeting the definition of business record. RP 442. The court also declined to admit the CAD log as a prior inconsistent statement, noting that "[a]t this point [the dispatcher] doesn't remember what the witness said, it's not this witness's statements, it's somebody else's, so you can't impeach with this witness's statement." RP 841. The trial court's ruling as to the CAD log's admissibility as a business record was correct, and Markussen does not assign error in this appeal to the trial court's ruling about the use of the CAD log as a prior inconsistent statement. That issue is waived.

The decision whether to admit evidence lies within the discretion of the trial court. *State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 810, 975 P.2d 967 (1999) cert. denied. 528 U.S. 922, 120 S. Ct. 285, 145 L. Ed. 2d 239 (1999). A trial court abuses its discretion only when its decision is manifestly

unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). Absent an abuse of discretion, a reviewing court will not disturb on appeal a trial court's rulings on the admissibility of evidence. *Hume v. American Disposal Co.*, 124 Wn.2d 656, 666, 880 P.2d 988 (1994).

Markussen does not demonstrate an abuse of discretion. He relies entirely on *State v. Bradley*, 17 Wn.App. 916, 567 P.2d 650 (1977) in support of his claim that CAD logs are admissible as business records. But his argument overlooks the discretionary nature of RCW 5.45.020. RCW 5.45.020 provides:

A record of an act, condition or event, shall in so far as relevant, be competent evidence if the custodian or other qualified witness testifies to its identity and the mode of its preparation, and if it was made in the regular course of business, at or near the time of the act, condition or event, and if, in the opinion of the court, the sources of information, method and time of preparation were such as to justify its admission.

Here, the trial court expressly held that in the opinion of the court, the sources of information and manner of preparation did not justify the admission of the CAD log. This ruling was not an abuse of discretion.

Bruce Brown testified that he never heard Ms. Cox say the gun was a fake gun. Ms. Cox testified that the item the defendant threatened her with was a gun. Further, her actions that morning support the inference that she

believed she was being threatened with a real gun. Finally, Lori Brennan, the dispatcher, had no independent recollection of what statements Ms.

Cox made to her during the phone call, and she acknowledged that she also spoke with Bruce Brown.

Markussen's reliance on *Bradley*, supra, is misplaced. In *Bradley*, an alibi witness testified that during the time the defendant supposedly robbed a jewelry store, she saw the defendant at a separate police call involving a purse snatching at a different location. *Bradley* at 917-18. To rebut this testimony the State sought admission, as a business record, "a computer printout of all phone calls for police assistance that day to demonstrate that the only police investigation for a purse snatching occurred 3 hours after the jewelry store robbery." *Id.* As the Court of Appeals noted in *State v. Ross*, 42 Wn.App. 806, 808-09, 714 P.2d 703 (1986), the statements of the caller in *Bradley* were not admitted to prove the truth of the matter asserted--as Markussen sought to do in this case.

The trial court correctly analogized the CAD log in this case to a police report. Police reports are not admissible despite their status as business records. As the Court of Appeals noted in *State v. Hines*, 87 Wn.App. 98, 100, 941 P.2d 9 (1997) (internal citations omitted):

It is the summary of an investigation by a police officer. And while it may be routine, it is nonetheless an investigation by the State. This report included the officer's

observations--Ms. Hines crossed the center line and she and her children were not wearing seat belts. It includes statements which tend to cast Ms. Hines in an unfavorable light, i.e., she gave an alias when first approached by the patrolman. The report, on its face, gave the patrolman the right to detain Ms. Hines. Cross-examination would permit Ms. Hines to test the accuracy of the patrolman's observations and the accuracy attributed to her statements. There is also no prima facie showing of the genuineness of this record simply because it is an official record. The report is a summary of an investigation by the patrolman and as such should be subject to cross-examination by the accused.

The CAD log in this case shares these same problematic characteristics: It is a summary by someone other than the declarant. It includes subjective interpretations. Moreover, Markussen cross examined Ms. Cox and she was adamant that the item she was threatened with was a gun, not a fake gun. The trial court did not err in denying admission of the CAD log.

Even if the trial court erred, the error was harmless. Ms. Cox's actions lead to the inescapable inference that she believed the gun was real. Ms. Cox was not a woman to go down without a fight. The jury could have reasonably concluded that a woman such as Ms. Cox would not have allowed herself to be forced back into her home after briefly escaping had she not believed that the gun pointed at her face was a real one. There was no error and if there was, it was harmless.

II. THE TRIAL COURT WAS NOT ASKED TO RULE ON WHETHER THE CAD LOG WAS ADMISSIBLE AS AN

EXCITED UTTERANCE. EVEN SO, THE
STATEMENTS IN THE CAD LOG WERE NOT
ADMISSIBLE UNDER THE EXCITED UTTERANCE
EXCEPTION BECAUSE NO WITNESS ATTRIBUTED
THE STATEMENTS TO MS. COX.

Markussen complains that the trial court erred in holding that the CAD log was inadmissible as an excited utterance. But the trial court was not asked to rule on whether the statements in the CAD log were admissible as excited utterances. Below, Markussen argued only that the CAD log was admissible as a business record or, alternatively, that it could be used to impeach Ms. Cox as a prior inconsistent statement (an argument, again, that Markussen does not raise in this appeal). The trial court did not err because the trial court did not make this ruling. This argument is waived on appeal as it was not preserved below. See RAP 2.5 (a).

Even if this argument were not waived, the trial court did not err in denying admission of the CAD log. As noted above, no person attributed this alleged statement about a fake plastic gun to Ms. Cox. As the prosecutor noted, there was likely a misunderstanding on the part of the dispatcher. Perhaps Ms. Cox had mentioned that the gun looked plastic and the dispatcher interpreted that remark as "fake plastic." Perhaps Ms. Cox was telling the dispatcher what she told the jury--that she initially thought the defendant standing in her hallway was a joke of some kind.

Speculation aside, statements have to be attributed to a particular declarant before they can be deemed excited utterances. The trial court did not err.

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The trial court did not err in declining to admit the CAD log and the defendant's convictions and deadly weapon enhancements should be affirmed.

DATED this 25 day of forch, 2013.

Respectfully submitted:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

By: ANNE M. CRUSER, WSBA #27944

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

CLARK COUNTY PROSECUTOR

March 25, 2013 - 10:40 AM

Transmittal Letter

	Transmittar Ecter			
Document Uploaded:	432030-Respondent's Brief.PDF			
Case Name: Court of Appeals Case Number:	State v. Mark Allen Markussen 43203-0			
Is this a Personal Restraint F	Petition? Yes 🝙 No			
The document being Filed is:				
Designation of Clerk's	Papers Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers			
Statement of Arranger	nents			
Motion:				
Answer/Reply to Motio	n:			
Brief: Respondent's	_			
Statement of Additiona	al Authorities			
Cost Bill				
Objection to Cost Bill				
Affidavit				
Letter				
Copy of Verbatim Report of Proceedings - No. of Volumes: Hearing Date(s):				
Personal Restraint Peti	tion (PRP)			
Response to Personal I	Restraint Petition			
Reply to Response to F	Personal Restraint Petition			
Petition for Review (PR	RV)			
Other:				
Comments:				

No Comments were entered.

Sender Name: Barbara L Melton - Email: barbara.melton@clark.wa.gov

A copy of this document has been emailed to the following addresses:

ptiller@tillerlaw.com